AN ANGLO-SAXON ESTATE CENTRE AT GREAT TEY?

In my research I have been surprised by how little study has been devoted to early Great Tey and the surrounding parishes.   I shall explore the possibilities for the existence of a large, long-lasting Anglo-Saxon estate dating from                                                                                                                        early in the period.  Janet Cooper, in her article on church dedications in Essex Archaeology and History Vol. 31 (2000) writes: “Great Tey, with its fine 11th-century central tower, gives every indication of being an important Anglo-Saxon church; the estate, like the neighbouring Colne, belonged to the ealdormen of Essex in the early 11th century”.       Estate boundaries tend to “solidify” into parish boundaries, due to the church and the need to collect tithe, and 19th century parish boundaries may therefore be a reasonable indicator of earlier estates.

Although the idea of the Anglo-Saxon “multiple estate” is a debatable one (the caput or estate centre, surrounded by ancillary settlements which would specialise in the production of – eg – wool or barley, indicated by placenames such as Shipton and Barton),  the concept of the Middle Saxon large estate which later fragmented into what we now know as modern villages and parishes is generally accepted.    Danish disruption would have accelerated the process of fragmentation, and although Danish influence in Essex seems to have been slight (on placename evidence, if nothing else), they certainly had a presence in north-eastern and western Essex.

Clues to the existence of such estates can be found in the grouping of parish names, such as we find in the Teys, with Great, Little and Marks (the Colnes are another, with White, Wakes, Earls and Colne Engaine).   A second clue is the existence of a large church, which may well be a minster (sometimes we know it certainly was, either from records or from placenames such as Southminster).   A third clue is the existence, following modern parish boundaries, of a compact area which contains within it grazing, woodland, meadow; arable land and water – all the components needed for self-sufficiency.   The parishes I shall consider, taken together, comply with all these requirements – with the addition of Aldham.    The idea that Aldham was part of the suggested Saxon estate occurred to me when looking at parish boundaries.  With the inclusion of Aldham a discrete area is formed, with Great Tey lying at the centre – leave it out, and the outline of the estate is much less regular.   The placename meaning “old ham” or settlement could be taken to mean that it was the site of an earlier settlement, now superseded by the important centre at Great Tey.   Chappel was carved out of Great Tey post- Conquest.

In terms of resources, the Colne runs to the north, and two tributaries, the Tey Brook and the Roman River, flow through the area.   Tey Brook was formerly Kenebrok (1219)  - “cows’ brook” – indicating meadow grazing.   The Roman River probably takes its name from the Romayn family (1377), and has nothing to do with the Romans.   There are large areas of woodland in the west which probably once formed part of the “ancient” Chalkney Wood, and there are smaller areas of woodland to the east.   As well as woodland shown on early maps, “wood” field names indicate that mapped woods were formerly much larger.   Arable land lies in the centre and east, interspersed with meadow along the rivers and streams, thus providing all the resources needed for an estate. 

Surface geology is mainly boulder clay, with alluvium in the river valleys, sands and gravels (Kesgrave and Head).   There are areas of London clay, and a lacustrine deposit near Teybrook Farm.

Roman Origins
One possibility, outlined by Stephen Bassett in “The Origin of Anglo-Saxon Kingdoms”, (1989) is that of a Saxon estate being the successor to a Roman estate or territorium (Bassett gives the example of Great Chesterford).   Not far from the present village centre (Warrens Farm) lies a known, though little investigated, Roman corridor villa, where coins of Constantine I and II, Magnentius and Decentius were found, indicating a mid to late 4th century terminal date for the villa.   Other finds included painted polychrome plaster, window glass, mortar, a Samian stamp, and roller-stamped flue tiles.   Pottery could have been as early as the 1st century (SMR 8709).   There was a rubble layer above the late floors.     It has been suggested that some villas were deliberately destroyed  by the native Britons as Roman power waned: could this be an example?   Evidence of Roman activity within the posited Anglo-Saxon estate boundaries is widespread.   A Roman road or roads cross the area.   Anglo-Saxon metalwork and a coin have been found on the villa site, but this coin, a sceatta dated to c.695-740, and the finds do not really prove continuity of occupation on the villa site, in the way that Rodwell suggested at nearby Rivenhall.

It has to be remembered that while a large Roman villa estate would be self-sufficient to a great extent it would have had good communications and access to markets (Colchester in this case), any immediate successor would have had to be almost completely self-sufficient, owing to the collapse of  currency and the market economy, and consequent deterioration of the infrastructure.

One site suggesting a possibility of continuity lies 0.7 km west of Great Tey, between Brookhouse Road and the Tey Brook.   Excavation reported in 2001-3 uncovered a Roman trackway, ovens, a corn-drier and timber structures from the 1st to 4th centuries, with a few sherds of early Saxon pottery, but no Saxon structures (SMR 45173).

The whole question of continuity between Roman settlement and the early Anglo-Saxons was long debated , with the weight of scholarly opinion against.   Nowadays most scholars would favour continuity: since there is no sign of wholesale depopulation and woodland regeneration it makes sense to view the 5th-century inhabitants, whether Romano-British or incomers, as continuing with existing field systems and land usage.    But while field boundaries are relatively constant (at least until 18th-19th century Parliamentary enclosure, not significant in this part of Essex), settlements often shift, and the exact location of the early Anglo-Saxon estate centre of Tey is unknown (but see “Settlement” later).

Nevertheless, settlement location is determined to a great extent by environment, with water and good arable nearby, grazing and fuel a little further away, and building materials within reach when needed.   There must have been some trial and error involved in the settlement of previously unoccupied lands, and it is interesting that the Iron Age enclosure/settlement currently under investigation near Teybrook Farm (CAG Bulletin 46) appears to have had no successor – the present farmer commenting on the poor quality of the land in that particular field and its observed tendency to waterlogging.   The Roman road coming off Stane Street and running towards the villa site would have passed very near indeed to this enclosure, which coin evidence indicates was in use in c.60BC: was it still in use when the road was made? if so, it appears to have been ignored by the Roman road-builders, unless the population were conscripted to help build that road.   However, recent finds of Roman pot and animal bone in a shallow pit await definitive dating and interpretation, and should help to date the abandonment of the enclosure.

If we look at the administrative rather than the economic aspect, we need to consider whether Roman taxation continued in any form.   Historical sources refer to native rulers who resisted the Germanic incomers with armed force, and for this to happen they would have had to levy tribute or tax, almost certainly in kind, like the later food-rents or feorm which we meet in Domesday.   If the Great Tey villa had also been a tax-collection centre, as has been posited for the Gestingthorpe villa, was this function transferred to the caput or estate centre of Tey?   Later this function falls to the manor, its liability expressed in terms of hides, whose inhabitants are significantly referred to as tributarii (tribute-payers) in Anglo-Saxon documents (Finberg 1964).

Rackham has traced what he believes was an Iron Age road, seen as a holloway in Chalkney Wood, continuing eastwards through fields as a boundary, then as the northern boundary of Woolfney (or Woolgadney) Wood, and into a stretch of fairly straight road running south-west towards Aldham and Colchester.   He identifies this as a section of Wool Street (hence “Woolfney” Wood?), running from Colchester to Cambridge, and improved in the Roman period up to a point 9 miles east of Cambridge (Rackham 1986). Turning north off the main Roman road from Colchester, Stane Street, we follow another Roman road for a distance, then diverge from it along the present road to Great Tey via Teybrook.   This road, if continued in a straight line, would have gone through Teycross (modern maps show only a fork in the Earls Colne road).   Had this road continued north-west to join Wool Street?

Teybrook Farm 
Teybrook Farm, where the CAG has concentrated its activity in recent years, may well have been an Anglo-Saxon subsidiary settlement, almost certainly not the main one, which, in view of the presence of the church at Great Tey, with its late Saxon tower, was probably under the present village.   It is very noticeable that the farm is situated in a slight dip near the Tey Brook, an ideal location for settlement.   This is where the Group has excavated a Bronze Age ring ditch and cremation cemetery, where there were also signs of Neolithic activity, as well as a substantial Roman ditch   On the other side of the road is the ongoing excavation of the Iron Age enclosure already mentioned.   It would seem to have been a favoured site for human activity in all periods, and it is interesting that a local farmer, Peter Fairs, in a recent article in the Essex County Standard, noted that he farmed “some of the best land in Essex” (though he is speaking of land north of the Tey Brook, and it is probable that Iron Age farmers would have chosen the least good land for their enclosure).   Excavation over the past two years of the linear ditch across the Bronze Age ring ditch would indicate that it is Roman, later silted, and then probably backfilled in the middle to late Anglo-Saxon period.   (Anglo-Saxon sites are quite often found associated with Bronze Age barrows).   A distinct layer about half-way down the ditch, within the ring-ditch area, was full of coarse, organic-tempered handmade Saxon pot, dated by Sue Tyler to the late 6th century (pers.com.) and found on several other sites in Essex and beyond.   Also present were charcoal, animal bone and metal objects, including a knife (others remain to be identified).   This layer might be accounted for by the clearance into the ditch of the surrounding area in order to level the ground for cultivation, or possible level grazing (so animals would not fall into the ditch, albeit by that time a shallow one).  This hypothesis could indicate low-status Saxon settlement in the vicinity and the burning of a hedge or brushwood.   However the presence of cremated human bone and other burnt material might also suggest an Anglo-Saxon cremation cemetery, cleared much later.   If so, this would be a significant find, since Anglo-Saxon burials of any kind are rare in most of Essex, the nearest being at Kelvedon (see “Burials”).   Indeed were the people active in this area at this time “Anglo-Saxons”, or were they descendants of the previous Romano-British, adapting to the disappearance of the Roman pottery industry by making their own?

What in any case had been the purpose of the Roman ditch?   If it was an estate boundary, this would not have coincided with the boundaries of a later Saxon estate, though of course successive Saxon inhabitants might have found such a boundary redundant.   A possible explanation is that it was a kind of storm ditch, to prevent flooding if and when the Tey Brook overflowed.   The Tey Brook has in any case changed its course in recent times, and could well have changed in the early Saxon period, which could have meant that such a drainage ditch was no longer needed.   Another possibility is the laying out of an entirely new field system, as is known to have occurred in many areas in the later Anglo-Saxon period (often some form of open-field system, see “Field Systems”).   No other sign of Saxon settlement, such as post-holes or sunken-featured buildings, has been detected, but it has to be remembered that the entire area of the ring ditch and its environs had been mechanically cleared before the Group began work on the site. 

Settlements

Boundaries of estates and fields are remarkably permanent, but settlements move (to be on routes of trade, or because of soil exhaustion or diminished water supply).   If we assume an original settlement centre at or near the present village of  Great Tey, how did the other settlement centres arise?    If we think in terms of “satellite” settlements - i.e. those which are dependent on the main settlement - and “daughter” settlements - i.e. those which are probably later and have a degree of independence - then from the Domesday entries it would seem that Little Tey was a “satellite” and Marks Tey a “daughter”.   The character of the Essex landscape, a mixture of enclosed fields and small open-field systems, gives rise to many small hamlets and isolated farmsteads from an early date, and there seems a strong case for Teybrook Farm being one of these.  The isolated situation of Little Tey church has given rise to conjecture that the original village was here, and survey work at Church Farm (SMR 8759) suggests a deserted medieval village, though not necessarily pre-Conquest.    Was Great Tey a nucleated settlement at all in the Anglo-Saxon period, though the size of the church suggests that by the 11th century it had become one?   Domesday does not help us to ascertain how far nucleation had progressed.   It is probable that the holdings of free men show that there was a fair degree of dispersion.

Roads

The purpose of roads and tracks is to link settlements; likewise, nucleated settlements will develop along existing road systems.   Therefore if settlements cease to exist, roads leading to them will eventually become overgrown and disappear.   So why and when did the Roman road north of Little Tey disappear?   Roads will cross rivers at the easiest and most convenient points, and here we see the importance of the crossings at Chappel and Ford Street (in Aldham), the first road running north to Mount Bures and the second towards  Bures St. Mary.   If there was indeed a royal centre of some kind at Bures, where according to Asser King Edmund of East Anglia was crowned, then these roads to Bures would have been important ones.   To what extent would Wool Street (see “Roman Origins”) still have been in use?  at least part certainly was.

Churches
The churches are all old.   Great Tey has a substantial square crossing tower which is late Saxon in all except the top section which is Norman, and the massive crossing arches are Saxon.   The tower contains much Roman brick and tile, doubtless obtained from the villa site nearby.   Before most of the nave was taken down in the 19th century it was a huge church, and Rodwell believes that it originally had transepts; this cruciform plan is typical of 10th and 11th-century minster churches.    It is difficult to prove whether is was a minster church since records do not survive to indicate whether the other churches were “daughter” churches (they would have paid various dues to the minster, may not have possessed burial rights etc.) but this is common in eastern England, probably due to disruption caused by the Danes.   The medieval dedication was All Saints, now St. Barnabas.

Rodwell (1993) lists four “footprints” of a minster: a large churchyard: a large, scattered, glebe; fragmentation of dependent parishes; and a parish boundary following natural features and Roman or earlier roads.   The dependent parishes are certainly fragmented, with numerous detached portions, while in the north the parish boundary follows the Colne for quite a distance, and in the south certain stretches of the Roman road (Stane Street).

Little Tey (St. James the Less, formerly St. Mary) and Marks Tey (St. Andrew) both have churches with Norman features, and may well have been much older foundations.   Rodwell (1977) considers that Marks Tey “could easily be pre-Conquest”, noting that the walls are only 0.82m thick, a feature of Anglo-Saxon rather than Norman walls, which were thicker.   The Royal Commission on Historical Monuments dates the nave and the north and south doorways to the 11th century, as well as the middle window in the south wall of the nave.   There are Roman brick dressings, and the church may possibly be on a Roman site (a Roman brooch and coin were found nearby).    Recent excavations by the Colchester Archaeological Trust revealed a stub of septaria foundation under the present chancel arch, which could mark the position of an earlier east end, or an earlier and narrower chancel arch (Orr: Colchester Archaeologist 20 2007).    There appears to be a church/hall complex here, an indication of a proprietary church, often subsidiary to an older minster.   On the other hand it is possible that either or both Little and Marks Tey churches were built by the groups of freemen mentioned in Domesday.   Rodwell thinks Little Tey too may be pre-Conquest, since the undressed puddingstone quoins are more characteristic of pre-Conquest than Norman work (and indeed SMR 32541 quotes dates of 1000-1099, though on what basis is not clear).        Chappel (formerly Pontisbright), was detached from Great Tey c.1352 when the inhabitants complained that they had no local church – hence no doubt the new name of “Chapell”.   Rodwell comments on the unusual puddingstone quoins here too, so they could be a local anachronistic feature. . Aldham old church (St. Margaret and St. Catherine) was also a very old foundation (the existing church is a 19th-century building, built to replace the ruinous one) which Rodwell suggests may be on a Roman site.   It was in existence in 1221 on a site near Church House Farm.       Blair (2005) says that after the Council of Clofesho in 747  bishops designated existing territories – possibly estates? – as areas of pastoral care and levied churchscot and/or tithe to pay for it (thus such boundaries fossilise into parishes).   There are disputes over tithe much later between Great and Little Tey which could hint at this kind of relationship.     The Teys come under Westminster Abbey, while Aldham is under the Bishop of London, which could of course indicate that it was not part of such an estate, though again the Danish disruption might be the reason for this.   Adjoining Coggeshall was probably another estate with the large church of St. Peter as a minster at its centre.  

Manors
Looking at manors, there is considerable overlap, with manors holding land in two or three parishes.   This includes Aldham, where the manors of Aldham Hall and Bourchiers Hall both held land in Marks Tey and Chappel, while manors in Great Tey and Chappel held land in Aldham.   

Domesday Book

It must be remembered that Domesday Book records landholdings, not settlements, and was compiled when settlement patterns were changing, a process probably lasting several centuries.   No distinction is made between Great and Little Tey, the holding just being referred to as “Tey”, with 3½ hides plus 2 hides held by freemen, and  1 1/2  hides as an outlier (though this would almost certainly have been well outside the boundaries of the estate; no detached portion of the parish in the immediate vicinity would have been large enough).   Outliers usually represented areas of rough grazing or woodland, and it is notable that this particular one has “woodland for 24 pigs”, though also arable (2 ploughs).    There is also “1 house in Colchester”, presumably one of the 12 in the hands of Count Eustace in 1086.   Marks Tey is assessed at 1½ hides, plus 1½ hides held by freemen, making about 9 hides for the Teys together.    The word means “enclosure”, and could well have referred to an early enclosure around the caput.   However early spellings (c.950) Tigan, Tygan are plural, “enclosures” – could this indicate subsidiary enclosed settlements at Little and Marks Tey? 

Aldham is assessed at 1 hide.  It appears to have been a tiny, almost depopulated, holding.    Added to the Teys (and leaving out the 1 1/2 hide outlier) this would result in a 10-hide unit.   The hide was originally regarded as a unit of land sufficient to sustain one family (presumably an extended family, including slaves) and consisting of 120 acres.  By the time of Domesday it is a notional taxable unit of varying acreage.   But the 5-hide and 10-hide unit is believed to be ancient, often associated with the grant of an estate by the king.   This would be an argument in favour of the inclusion of Aldham in the original estate.   Chappel was probably a separate settlement by 1066; by the 14th century the inhabitants were cohesive and numerous enough to demand their own church, standing in today’s village near the river Colne, and probably where the earlier nucleated settlement stood, possibly the 17 freemen who held 2 hides in 1066.

The Domesday entry for Tey is complex, indicating that it was largely held by free men, and before 1066 had been held by one un-named free man.   Such free holdings being somewhat unusual features for Essex, it could well be an indicator of considerable Danish disruption, which in East Anglia and Lincolnshire is held to result in a fundamental change in land ownership into the hands of previously unfree farmers, or even Danish settlers.   We know that the Colchester area was in the hands of the Danes for an unknown period of time.   Marks Tey was held by Wulfric in 1066, but here too free men held land – 30 in 1086.   Aldham, a minor settlement compared with the Teys, was held by a Saxon woman, Leofeva, in 1066.   This lady held the large (7-hide) manor of Woodham Walter, as well as a manor in Kelvedon Hatch and land in Bures; she also held land and houses in Colchester.   For Aldham there is only mention of 4 slaves in 1066 and 1086, and 1 villein in 1066 only.   

It is worth noting that the Teys, Marks Tey and Aldham all have single entries in Domesday (the nearby Colnes have nine).   This does suggest some continuity of the estate, although the fragmentation of parishes may be connected with the holdings of free men. 

Greens
There are several greens within the area.   Greenside settlement is often given an 11th century date, when population was increasing and small new settlements were established on or beside existing commons, used for grazing.   Dowland, Broad, Long and Cramers Greens in the Teys, and Rose and Gallows Green in Aldham probably come into this category.   Gallows Green is near the Copford parish boundary and could have been an execution site, though it is not on a hundred boundary, where such sites were often situated.

Field Systems

Field boundaries, once established, are very long-lasting (they may be removed to make large fields, or large fields sub-divided, but the actual boundary is rarely moved).   What can we tell about field systems? there are certainly suggestions of open field in some areas, shown by the reversed-S-shaped curves of some blocks of fields and field-names indicating that a very large field had been subdivided.   These occur in Chappel, Marks and Little Tey and Aldham, and possibly in the vicinity of Great Tey village (see Historic Landscape Characterisation Survey).    Hunter is of the opinion that in Essex the small open-field systems were associated with hamlets, rather than villages, and it is tempting to think of them as being those of outlying groups of freemen, leaving Great Tey as mainly demesne and woodland (Hunter 2003).      It is always hard to date field systems, and if there were open-fields in Anglo-Saxon Tey we cannot tell when they date from, or if indeed  they are post-Conquest.   It is now generally accepted that the open-field system was introduced in the 9th and 10th centuries in many areas, probably due to population increase and the need to use land to maximise production, but in Danelaw regions this was complicated by the Danish incursions, which may have either speeded up or retarded the process.   We do know that Essex was never a county of widespread and general open-fields, with nucleated villages, rather a patchwork of enclosed fields, hamlets and isolated farms, with perhaps one large field divided into strips.   Meadows, however, were allocated by strip up to quite recent times, a system mentioned in the Laws of Ine of Wessex c.690.

There is even the possibility of continuity of field boundaries from Iron Age or Roman times.   In this part of Essex it has been traced at Maltings Lane, Witham, at Little Waltham and at Great Holts Farm, Boreham.   Helen Pitchforth makes a persuasive case for the survival of an Iron Age landscape throughout Witham parish. (Pitchforth 2001).

Woodland and rough pasture

Hunter estimates that in Essex at Domesday 30% of any manor was likely to be woodland and 20% “waste” i.e. rough grazing.   Certainly there were large areas of woodland in the west and also in Marks Tey (wood for 214 pigs in the Teys, 100 in Marks Tey), though no-one knows for sure what such a measurement meant in acres.  ; Domesday acreages (assuming 120 acres to the hide, and including meadow) bear little relation to actual acreages as given on Tithe maps.   Hart (1993) notes that in Essex woodland is heaviest on the boulder clay, and this certainly corresponds to woodland distribution in the Teys.   Until 1884 a long tongue of land belonging to Mount Bures parish stretched down towards the Colne, and the eastern boundary of Chappel (according to a   perambulation) was somewhat uncertain.  Such anomalies often indicate past intercommoning, possibly wood pasture.   This is borne out by the Tithe maps, which show complex boundaries between detached portions of Mount Bures, Wakes Colne and Chappel north of the Colne, with a number of “wood” field-names.

Documentary evidence
“Tey” is mentioned in the wills of both Aelfgar and Aelflaed, and belonged to the ealdorman of Essex.   Aelfgar was ealdorman and his daughter Aelflaed was the widow of Byrhtnoth, also ealdorman of Essex, of Battle of Maldon fame.  In both cases land in Tey was left to Stoke – presumably Stoke-by-Nayland  - where the family wished to establish a religious foundation.   What land was this? or did the whole of Tey pass for a time into royal hands, which could account for the non-fragmentation pre-Domesday?    By 1086 Tey was held by Count Eustace, brother-in-law of King Edward, and Aldham by Odo, Bishop of Bayeux, King William’s half-brother, both significant royal connections.

Burials

No Anglo-Saxon cemeteries or single burials have yet been found in the Teys or surrounding parishes, a feature often remarked upon in Essex, contrasting with Suffolk and Cambridgeshire where there are many.   Absence of evidence is not evidence of absence, but metal-detectorists have been active in Essex for a long time now, and could have been expected to find something indicative of pagan Saxon burial, at least.   Domesday reveals a much lower population density in Essex compared with the rest of the Eastern counties, by which time Christian burial (in churchyards and probably without grave goods) would have been the norm for at least 300 years.   That this was happening is shown by the excavation in Rivenhall churchyard of two 7th-9th century skeletons.   But it is possible that for a long time very few people actually lived on the lands of  the Tey estate, and, as mentioned above, there may have been Anglo-Saxon as well as Bronze Age cremations in the vicinity of Teybrook Farm.

Conclusions

That there was at some time during the Anglo-Saxon period a large estate in the Teys is almost certain, but when, and for how long, is much more conjectural.   Without any firm clues as to the boundaries of the villa estate it will be difficult to demonstrate continuity, though further excavation throughout the area could be helpful.   More work needs to be done on field names and boundaries, as well as Historic Landscape Characterisation studies, and on the development of the manorial system.   Investigation of adjoining parishes may be helpful, and the doubtful status of Aldham elucidated.  Comparisons could be made with known Anglo-Saxon estates in other parts of the country such as Raunds, where too there is a Roman villa.

This account should be regarded as work in progress, and I would be most grateful for any comments and new information that readers can provide.                                                                     Pat Brown (BrwAP@aol.com.)
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